

Working Papers W-51

Corporate Debt Overhang in Croatia: Micro Assessment and Macro Implications

Ana Martinis, Igor Ljubaj

Zagreb, June 2017



WORKING PAPERS W-51

PUBLISHER

Croatian National Bank Publishing Department Trg hrvatskih velikana 3, 10000 Zagreb Phone: +385 1 45 64 555 Contact phone: +385 1 45 65 006 Fax: +385 1 45 64 687

WEBSITE

www.hnb.hr

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Ljubinko Jankov

EDITORIAL BOARD

Vedran Šošić Gordi Sušić Davor Kunovac Tomislav Ridzak Evan Kraft Maroje Lang

EDITOR

Romana Sinković

DESIGNER Vjekoslav Gjergja

TECHNICAL EDITOR

Božidar Bengez

The views expressed in this paper are not necessarily the views of the Croatian National Bank. Those using data from this publication are requested to cite the source. Any additional corrections that might be required will be made in the website version.

ISSN 1334-0131 (online)



CROATIAN NATIONAL BANK

WORKING PAPERS W-51

Corporate Debt Overhang in Croatia: Micro Assessment and Macro Implications

Ana Martinis, Igor Ljuba

Zagreb, June 2017

Abstract

High corporate sector leverage has often been highlighted as one of the major impediments to economic recovery. We conduct a debt sustainability analysis for Croatian corporates based on firm-level data. The analysis shows that around one third of the corporate debt in Croatia is unsustainable, thus pointing to sizeable deleveraging needs. By relating the estimated firm-level debt overhang indicator with investment activity, we find that over-indebted firms have reduced their investment to a greater extent than those without debt overhang. This especially holds among exporters and domestically owned private companies, whose higher sensitivity to unsustainable debt probably explains why they are less debt burdened. Our paper contributes to the existing literature by showing that, in the case of Croatia, the estimated firm-level debt sustainability thresholds, unlike the aggregate thresholds, capture the asymmetrically negative effect of debt overhang on investment. The estimated size and impact of the debt overhang in Croatia warrant policy engagement that would include more efficient bankruptcy procedures, swifter balance sheet clean-up supported by specific tax treatments, enhanced restructuring of unsustainably indebted state-owned companies as well as a comprehensive policy strategy for improving business climate and competitiveness.

Keywords:

corporate debt, investment, debt overhang, deleveraging, crisis, Croatia

JEL:

D22, E22, F34, G31

Croatian National Bank, Economic Analysis Department. E-mail: ana.martinis@hnb.hr; igor.ljubaj@hnb.hr.

The authors are particularly grateful to Dubravko Mihaljek and Evan Kraft for their valuable comments. The views expressed are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the Croatian National Bank.

Contents

Abstract	V
1 Introduction	1
2 The concept of corporate debt sustainability and literature review	2
3 Corporate debt overhang in Croatia	3
3.1 Evolution of corporate debt in Croatia	3
and data description	5
3.3 Estimation of debt overhang and sensitivity	
analysis of deleveraging needs	7
4 Econometric assessment of the impact of	4.4
4 1 Breakdown by firm ownership and exports	13
4.2 Alternative debt overhang thresholds	15
5 Conclusion and policy implications	16
Annexes	18
References	20

1 Introduction

The issue of (over)indebtedness came into the focus of economic research during the global financial crisis. Deleveraging needs are frequently cited as the key limitation to a stronger economic recovery. In this respect, Croatia is not very different from many other EU countries. During the expansion phase, which was characterised by low risk perception and abundant capital inflows, Croatian firms accumulated high debt from both domestic and foreign sources. As a result, non-consolidated corporate debt has increased to around 100% of GDP, thus putting the Croatian corporate sector among the most indebted in Central and Eastern Europe. Nonetheless, since the beginning of the financial crisis corporate deleveraging has been sluggish and uneven. This raises questions whether and to what extent the existing corporate debt in Croatia is unsustainable, how much deleveraging can be expected in the medium term, and what the macroeconomic implications of debt overhang are.

The high debt of non-financial corporations and the accompanying deleveraging needs may have various negative implications for economic activity. They create pressures on firms' profitability and overleveraged companies have no financial space to engage in potentially prosperous investment opportunities. Moreover, excessive corporate indebtedness may hinder the reallocation of economic resources from firms with low productivity to more productive firms. Finally, unsustainable debt poses risks for financial stability as it leads to deterioration in loan performance as well as to increased vulnerability of firms to interest rate shocks.

The aim of this paper is two-fold. First, we perform various estimations of the size of the debt overhang in the corporate sector and analyse its distribution and its sensitivity to selected economic shocks. Second, we assess the impact of corporate (over)indebtedness on investment activity using the dynamic panel data model of the investment equation in which we include our previously estimated firm-level debt overhang indicator. Our findings point to the need for proper policy actions to deal with the problem of the debt overhang.

The paper is structured as follows. The introduction is followed by a literature review. The third section provides an estimation of the debt overhang for the corporate sector in Croatia and its subgroups divided by industry, firm size, ownership and export orientation. The fourth section presents the econometric panel estimation of the investment equation with particular emphasis on asymmetric effects of debt overhang on investment activity. The paper concludes with policy implications and a discussion on actions capable of tackling the issue of the corporate debt overhang.

2 The concept of corporate debt sustainability and literature review

The starting point in theory of corporate finance is Modigliani and Miller (1958) and their capital structure irrelevance proposition. They argue that the value of a firm and its investment decisions do not depend on indebtedness; i.e. it is irrelevant if the firm uses internal (capital and retained earnings) or external financing (loans and securities). However, subsequent theories have challenged the funding structure irrelevance theorem. This strand of literature emphasises that the structure and price of financing sources affect corporate operations and investment due to market frictions. In particular, the trade-off and the pecking order theories of corporate leverage (Myers, 1984) suggest that firms decide on the structure of financing sources by comparing the marginal benefits and costs of various financing sources. More precisely, the trade-off theory argues that a firm sets a target debt-to-asset ratio that is determined by the tax benefits of debt on the one hand and potential bankruptcy costs on the other.

The pecking order theory argues that a firm generally prefers internal to external financing, and debt to equity in case of external financing. Murray and Goyal (2005), in their overview of theoretical concepts of corporate debt, refer to numerous empirical studies that confirm the general hypotheses of these two theories. Contrary to the Modigliani-Miller approach, these concepts suggest that the quantity and price of corporate debt have significant implications on a firm's operations. In the long run, they influence investment decisions, which has far-reaching consequences for overall economic developments. This theoretical background has motivated the analysis of corporate debt in Croatia in this paper.

Following the trade-off and pecking order theories, the issue of debt (un)sustainability has increasingly been in the focus of economic research. This issue becomes even more relevant in the aftermath of recessions when unsustainable debt and rollover risks can pose a great burden on economic recovery. Lo and Rogoff (2015) find a negative influence of debt overhang of all sectors (including the corporate) on recovery after the recent global financial crisis. Likewise, in a comprehensive overview of the debt overhang issue, Buttiglione et al. (2014) point out that many countries are caught in a vicious circle between unsustainable debt and deleveraging, as debt overhang implies slower growth, which makes deleveraging more difficult, feeding back into continued slow growth. Another prominent paper is Eggertson and Krugman (2011), who theoretically formalise the fact that excessively leveraged economic agents must reduce their debt, which adversely affects aggregate demand.

As for empirical quantifications of the threshold value above which corporate debt becomes detrimental for the economy, the literature is not as rich as in the case of public debt. One paper that stands out is Cecchetti et al. (2011). Based on data for 18 OECD countries in the period from 1980 to 2010, they estimate that the threshold value above which corporate debt becomes a burden to economic growth is 90% of GDP, as higher nominal debt in the case of shocks increases real sector volatility and financial vulnerability, which together reduce growth. Furthermore, Cecchetti et al. (2011) point out that high private debt in combination with high public debt makes the economy even more vulnerable to shocks. Similarly, Arcand et al. (2012) estimate that debt financing starts having a negative effect on output growth when credit to the private sector reaches 100% of GDP. The fact that Croatian corporate debt and private debt more generally already exceed these thresholds warrants an in-depth assessment of the corporate indebtedness in Croatia. We build our assessment on these macro-level findings, but take a more disaggregated approach by estimating corporate debt thresholds on the firm level.

The issue of corporate (over)indebtedness is often incorporated in studies analysing its implications on specific macroeconomic developments. Goretti and Souto (2013) find a negative correlation between debt burden and investment on a sample of euro area periphery countries in the period from 2000 to 2011. By using a narrative approach and observing deleveraging experiences in post-crises periods, they stress the need for orderly deleveraging of the corporate sector, while at the same time pointing to the risks and macrofinancial costs of deleveraging. Coricelli et al. (2010) assess the impact of debt overhang on productivity growth

in Central and Eastern Europe and detect a threshold debt level at 40% of total equity above which additional borrowing leads to a decrease in productivity growth. Likewise, Kalemli-Ozcan et al. (2015) show that debt overhang and rollover risk have weakened the investment activity in Europe. Their results suggest that these two factors caused half of the drop in investment activity during the crisis. Moreover, they find that European firms with higher debt overhang invested less even before the crisis and that the negative correlation intensified during the crisis. This is especially valid for firms with a higher share of short-term debt, which is usually associated with a higher rollover risk at times of financial market shocks.

Regarding the studies for specific countries, Lawless et al. (2014) find the negative impact of debt overhang on SMEs' performance in Ireland, in particular on their investment, employment and financial stress indicators. Damijan (2014) obtains similar findings for Slovenian enterprises: excessive leverage and lower debt service capacity hinder growth of corporate productivity, exports, employment and investment. In addition, he finds that the negative impact of excessive indebtedness is greater for micro and small enterprises. In his more recent study for six Central and Eastern European countries (including Croatia), Damijan (2016) again finds a negative impact of overleveraged firms on corporate performance, employment, investment and exports. Finally, Kuchler (2015) finds that high corporate leverage in Denmark contributed to a reduction in investment, in particular for small and medium-sized enterprises.

To sum up, the problem of unsustainable indebtedness of the corporate sector and its micro and macroeconomic implications is a widely represented topic covered in numerous empirical and theoretical papers, which, together with the current developments in Croatia (high and corporate debt), offer a good starting point and motivation for conducting the analysis of debt overhang of Croatian enterprises and of its impact on investment activity.

3 Corporate debt overhang in Croatia

3.1 Evolution of corporate debt in Croatia

Corporate sector debt in Croatia grew strongly in the years preceding the global financial crisis, supported by low risk perception, large capital inflows and the boom in the construction and real estate sectors. In the period from 2001 to 2008, the total corporate sector debt increased threefold, growing by 17% annually (Figure 1, left panel). The central bank introduced measures that have successfully slowed down domestic credit activity, but firms turned to direct foreign borrowing, thus contributing to continued growth of the total corporate debt until the beginning of the crisis. After 2009, recession and higher risk aversion of both creditors and debtors led to a marked slowdown of corporate borrowing. However, up to end-2014 there was still no evidence of significant deleveraging.

Accumulation and subsequent stabilisation of the corporate debt occurred together with its reallocation within the sector. As a result, the distribution of debt across industries significantly differed in the adjustment phase compared to the pre-crisis expansionary phase (Figure 1, right panel). Debt growth in the period 2005-2014 was the strongest in the real estate sector, construction, and transportation activities, for which the debt-to-assets ratios increased by more than 50% on average. Conversely, since the beginning of the crisis indebt-edness decreased in only four industries, primarily those where indebtedness was initially not very high (water supply, mining, ICT and electricity supply).

Unlike almost all Central and Eastern European countries, the Croatian corporate sector has not deleveraged since the beginning of the crisis. In fact, the share of corporate debt in GDP until the end of 2014 actually increased to over 100% of GDP, thus making the Croatian corporate sector among the most indebted in Central and Eastern Europe (Figure 2).



Note: Corporate debt on the left panel is the sum of loans and debt securities from non-consolidated financial accounts. Corporate debt on the right panel refers to a sample of firms used in debt sustainability assessment in Chapter 3.2). Sources: CNB (left panel) and Amadeus (right panel).



Nonetheless, the leverage level itself does not necessarily imply that the corporate sector is excessively indebted or unable to service its debt. In fact, the majority of the "old" EU members have been facing significantly higher corporate leverage levels for years. The firms' capacity to finance debt should therefore be assessed by taking into account their profitability and the cost of debt. The average profitability of Croatian enterprises, measured by the ratio of EBIT to total assets, recorded a strong decline in the wake of the crisis, after which it remained at approximately 2% (Annex I). This is almost one third below the pre-crisis profitability levels. At the same time, the gradual decline in global and domestic interest rates resulted in a decrease in the interest payment burden. This has contributed to a gradual improvement of the interest coverage ratio, which, after a sharp decline in 2008-2010, gradually increased until the end of the observed period and, by 2014, slightly exceeded the pre-crisis level.

These indicators suggest not only a relatively strong negative correlation between aggregate investment and leverage ratios (Figure 3) but also that the high debt of Croatian firms has become a serious burden on their performance. The European Commission (EC, 2016) and International Monetary Fund (IMF, 2015) also recognized this issue, pointing to corporate indebtedness as one of the main impediments to the recovery of



investment and of economic growth in Croatia. In order to investigate the extent of this issue, the following section presents a quantitative assessment of corporate debt sustainability in Croatia.

3.2 Methodology of debt sustainability assessment and data description

There is no uniform approach to the assessment of corporate debt sustainability. The most frequently used methods are comparative, based on indebtedness and debt-servicing burden indicators that are compared to arbitrarily selected thresholds. The most common indebtedness indicators include the share of corporate debt in GDP, total assets or equity (an overview of the methods and indicators is presented in Bruggeman, 2013). However, while these indicators point to the relative indebtedness compared to peer firms, they do not reveal whether a firm is able to service debt from regular operations.

More comprehensive methods that take into account the debt-servicing capacity of firms include: (i) Stationarity Approach (Cuerpo et al., 2014), (ii) Contingent Claims Analysis (Gapen et al., 2004) and (iii) the method based on the concept of net free cash flow (IMF, 2013). The first method (i) is based on the notion that a debt is sustainable if it moves in line with total discounted assets, meaning that the "debt-to-discounted assets" ratio should be stationary. The advantage of this approach is that it does not require debt thresholds to be specified. Its disadvantage is that the assessment of the imbalance between sustainable and actual debt levels depends on the selection of a reference year for sustainable debt, such a selection being made arbitrarily. The second method (ii) is based on the assessment of probability of corporate default using data on market value of listed companies. However, the limited number of listed companies in economies with less developed capital markets, such as the Croatian, narrows the scope for such research.

The third method (iii) estimates what share of debt a firm will be able to finance from its regular operations in the medium term. The method is based on the concept of net free cash flow (NFCF), which shows whether a firm is able to finance its liabilities to creditors and owners from current operations. This disaggregated approach accounts for heterogeneity among firms and detects the most vulnerable firms, which would not be possible from aggregate data. Another advantage of this method is its dynamic forward-looking perspective, which allows the assessment of debt sustainability over the medium term and its sensitivity to various macroeconomic scenarios (e.g. the interest rate shock and the economic downturn shock). This approach appears the most appropriate for the debt sustainability analysis of Croatian enterprises. A detailed description of this method, along with its modifications, follows below. Net free cash flow is defined as operating cash flow (before interest) minus interest expenses, capital expenditures and dividends. It is calculated as follows:

$$NFCF = \frac{Net \ free \ cash \ flow}{Assets} = \frac{Operating \ cash \ flow \ before \ interest}{Assets} - \frac{Interest \ expense}{Debt} \times \frac{Debt}{Assets} - (1)$$

$$- \frac{Capital \ expenditures}{Assets} - \frac{Dividends}{Assets}$$

A positive value of NFCF indicates that corporate debt is sustainable, i.e. that a firm can finance debt from its current operations. In contrast, if NFCF is negative, it means that the firm is unable to generate sufficient cash flow to finance its existing debt level (while maintaining a certain level of capital investment and dividend payments), so the company has debt overhang.

Corporate debt sustainability is assessed based on the projection of NFCF in the medium term (up until 2017). For this purpose, we use various assumptions and combinations of the forecasted and the historical inputs to the equation (1), the following input options being employed in the analysis:

- The operating cash flow is forecast based on the regression between firm-level operating cash flow and real GDP growth for the period from 2005 to 2014^{1,2}. We estimate two regressions between the cashflow and GDP: (a) a panel-data regression yielding sector- and firm-level intercepts and sector-level elasticities, applying sectoral dummies for 82 sectors (following 2-digit NACE classification); and (b) individual regressions for each firm, yielding firm-level intercepts and elasticities. Additionally, as the third (c) option, we use historical averages of operating cash flows for the period 2006-2014 for each firm.
- 2. Interest expenses are forecast based on the assumption that both domestic and foreign interest rates remain low until 2017 (around the levels recorded in 2015) and that the structure and maturity of the corporate remains unchanged³.
- 3. Debt-to-assets ratio is kept at the last recorded level because the focus of the analysis is to assess the sustainability of the current leverage levels given projected trends in profitability and interest rates (in line with IMF, 2013).
- 4. For the capital expenditure ratio, we also use several alternatives: (a) the last recorded level (following the assumption that investment reached a trough in 2014, which is justified in view of the prolonged six-year recession in Croatia); (b) the minimum capital expenditure/assets ratio in the period 2006-2014; and (c) no capital and dividend expenditures (i.e. extreme case scenario).

The combinations of these inputs yield a range of the debt sustainability estimations rather than one single estimation, thus providing a range of NFCF projections, with the aim of ensuring a robust debt sustainability assessment.

Next, the corporate debt sustainability analysis focuses on those firms that have high debt, i.e. debt exceeding 30% of total assets (IMF, 2013)⁴. The rationale behind this assumption is that highly indebted firms are expected to be more exposed to default risk. The chosen threshold level appears suitable for Croatia, as the Croatian corporate debt-to-assets ratio of 30% corresponds to the corporate debt-to-GDP ratio of about 90%, which, according to Cecchetti et al. (2011), is the threshold value for the aggregate corporate debt overhang.

Firms with debt-to-assets ratios above 30% and a negative projected net free cash flow (NFCF₂₀₁₇ < 0) are considered to have unsustainable debt, or a debt overhang. For such firms, the sustainable debt level is derived as the debt level at which NFCF₂₀₁₇ equals zero (i.e. becomes non-negative). The positive difference between the existing debt level and the sustainable debt level is the debt overhang. It represents deleveraging needs in the medium term.

¹ Operating cash flow is regressed over the change in real GDP in years t and t-1, and a constant, using OLS method on a firm-level panel.

² The forecast of the operating cash flow is based on the estimated coefficients and the CNB's July 2016 official projection of real GDP growth rates (1.6% in 2015, 2.6% in 2016 and 2.6% in 2017).

³ According to CNB data for end-2015, enterprises have 41% of domestic debt (predominantly loans) and 59% of foreign debt (36% accounted for by loans of non-affiliated creditors, 18% by debt to affiliated companies and 5% are debt securities).

⁴ Following IMF (2013), the corporate debt-to-assets threshold of 30% is chosen based on the crisis debt levels in EU countries and the pre-crisis debt levels in EU peripheral countries.

As regards data sources, the analysis is based on annual data sets obtained from the Amadeus database compiled by *Bureau van Dijk*. Data on interest expenses and exports are obtained from the annual financial reports databases compiled by the Croatian Financial Agency (FINA). We excluded firms that are part of the government sector according to ESA 2010 classification. We also treated the sample for outliers in line with Lopez-Garcia and di Mauro (2015). In particular, we excluded firms with variable values outside the range between the 2nd and the 99th percentiles or outside the range "median \pm 10*interquartile range". In addition, we excluded firms with fewer than two employees and firms with negative assets or assets equalling zero. The definitions of all variables used in the debt sustainability analysis can be found in Annex II. The resulting sample comprises 31,656 firms, representing about 62% of total corporate sector assets and 59% of total corporate sector debt in 2014 (Annex I). In the sample, 6,726 firms have high debt (debt-to-assets ratio above 30%), which is 21% of the total number of the enterprises in the sample, but they hold as much as 50% of total assets of the sample.

3.3 Estimation of debt overhang and sensitivity analysis of deleveraging needs

The results of the debt sustainability analysis show that approximately one third of the corporate debt is unsustainable (Figure 4)⁵. The estimated unsustainable debt ranges between 27.3% (Estimation 4) and 35.3% of total debt (Estimation 3), with the mean and the median of 32.4% and 33.1% of total debt, respectively⁶. The estimations using the 2014 investment ratios do not differ substantially from those using the minimum investment ratios during the recession period, thus supporting the assumption that the year 2014 indeed may have been a trough for investment activity in many highly indebted firms.



These results suggest that the debt overhang issue in the Croatian economy is sizeable, implying that individual firm-driven cuts in operating costs, investments and dividends may not be sufficient to bring debt back to sustainable levels. In fact, even under the extreme assumption that firms completely cut capital expenditures and dividend payments in order to reduce indebtedness, about 9% of the total debt would remain

⁵ These results are in line with the assessment by the European Commission (EC, 2015) that found, on the basis of a comparison of firms by their debt-toearnings and debt-to-capital ratios, that more than one third of the corporate debt may be considered at high risk of defaulting.

⁶ Mean and median are computed excluding the Estimation 7 in Figure 4 (the extreme-case assumption of no dividends and no capital expenditures).

unsustainable (Figure 4, Estimation 7).

The distribution of debt overhang reveals that unsustainable debt is concentrated in a small number of firms. About two thousand firms (Table 1, column 3) out of close to 32 thousand firms in the sample have debt overhang or negative projected NFCF₂₀₁₇, and they account for 5-7% of the total number of firms in the sample (Table 1, column 4) and 16-26% of the total assets of the sample (Table 1, column 5). Moreover, the top 10 firms with the highest debt overhang in absolute terms hold more than one third of the total debt overhang, and the top 100 enterprises with the highest debt overhang hold as much as three quarters of the entire debt overhang of the sample.

	Inputs for the debt su	stainability estimation				Share of top	Share of	
	Operating cash flow before interest	Investment ratio (capital expenditure/assets)	No of firms with debt overhang	Share of overindebted firms in total number of firms	Share of overindebted firms' assets in total assets	10 firms with largest debt overhang in total debt overhang	top 100 firms with largest debt overhang in total debt overhang	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
1	Forecast based on sector-level estimation ^a	2014 investment ratio	2,036	6.4%	25.8%	44.6%	77.8%	
2	Forecast based on firm-level estimation ^b	2014 investment ratio	2,173	6.9%	21.9%	38.0%	73.6%	
3	Firm-level average in period 2006-2014	2014 investment ratio	2,346	7.4%	24.2%	35.2%	71.7%	
4	Forecast based on sector-level estimation ^a	Lowest investment ratio in period 2010-2014	1,549	4.9%	16.3%	47.0%	81.7%	
5	Forecast based on firm-level estimation ^b	Lowest investment ratio in period 2010-2014	1,760	5.6%	22.2%	43.5%	79.0%	
6	Firm-level average in period 2006-2014	Lowest investment ratio in period 2010-2014	1,826	5.8%	22.6%	39.4%	77.1%	
7	Forecast based on sector-level estimation ^a	No investment, no dividend	923	2.9%	5.1%	31.1%	81.5%	
	Mean (excl. estimation 7)		1,948	6.2%	22.2%	41.3%	76.8%	
	Median (excl. estimation 7)		1,931	6.1%	22.4%	41.5%	77.5%	

^a Operating cash-flow forecast based on panel OLS regression between cash flow and current and lagged GDP growth rates yielding sector-level elasticities and sector- and firm-level intercepts.

^b Operating cash-flow forecast based on individual firms' OLS regressions between current GDP growth rate and firm cash flow.

Source: Authors' calculation.

The debt sustainability analysis by activities shows that the most severe deleveraging pressures are present in the construction sector (Figure 5)⁷. Despite several years of deleveraging, this sector still has a very high debt level (over 45% of assets) and its profitability has been limited by a continued decline in real estate prices, which is then reflected in the high share of non-performing loans in total loans of domestic banks (33% at end-2014)⁸. High deleveraging needs also burden the real estate sector and other activities (dominated by firms that provide services to the construction sector)⁹. On the other hand, the financial services sector is to the largest extent able to service high debt thanks to somewhat higher profitability¹⁰. In absolute terms, the highest debt overhang is found in manufacturing (which is expected given that manufacturing is the largest sector measured by its share in total corporate assets), followed by construction and electricity supply.

⁷ In view of the relatively minor differences among the results of the estimations, the following analysis of the distribution of debt sustainability by firm characteristics is presented based on Estimation 2 (i.e. the estimation using the 2014 investment ratio and the cash-flow forecast based on firm-level regressions). Estimation 2 is the closest to the median of the six debt overhang estimations (Estimation 7 is not taken into account). The equivalent distribution analyses for other estimations are not presented here for simplification purposes, but are available upon request from the authors.

⁸ Loans of domestic banks to the construction sector declined in the period 2011-2014 by approximately 15%.

⁹ Other activities, according to the NCA 2007 classification, include the following: professional, scientific and technical activities, administrative and auxiliary service activities, public administration, defence and compulsory social security, education, human health and social work activities, arts, entertainment and recreation and other service activities.

¹⁰ Financial services activity includes firms that operate as holding companies for the affiliated non-financial corporations, i.e. playing the role of their financial service provider.



As regards firm size (Figure 6, panel a), small enterprises are considerably less indebted and have markedly lower deleveraging needs than the rest of the corporates. The weighted average debt-to-assets ratio of small enterprises ranges around 22%, while in large enterprises debt exceeds 33% of their assets. These results indicate that smaller enterprises, despite their growth potential and rather low indebtedness, probably have limited access to finance, partly because a large part of creditors' lending potential is already allocated to large firms, but also because of lack of collateral¹¹. This is also in line with the findings from Damijan (2014 and 2016) and Kuchler (2015) who find that firm performance among SMEs is more sensitive to debt overhang than the performance of firms of other sizes.



11 For more information on access to finance of SMEs in Croatia, see Box 6, CNB Bulletin No. 220.

Second, we find that exporters have a noticeably lower debt level than non-exporters and that they have significantly lower deleveraging needs (Figure 6, panel b). Conversely, almost half of the non-exporters' debt is assessed as unsustainable. However, the non-exporters' large debt overhang is held by a small number of relatively larger firms (6% of all non-exporters holding 27% of total non-exporters' assets). Better debt sustainability for exporters may be related to the fact that exporters are on average more profitable than non-exporters, so they can finance debt more easily.

As regards the type of ownership (Figure 6, panel c), the debt sustainability analysis has shown that stateowned firms, although less indebted than private ones, are substantially more burdened by unsustainable debt. In fact, more than half of the state-owned firms' debt is estimated as unsustainable, and is again highly concentrated in a small number of large companies. Furthermore, foreign-owned private firms are significantly more burdened with debt overhang than domestically owned private firms, although their overall indebtedness levels are very similar. Namely, nearly one-half of the debt of foreign-owned firms has been assessed as unsustainable, compared to the only 27% of domestic private firms. This probably relates to the fact that foreignowned firms largely use financing from their parent companies that is predominantly related to the owners' business strategies rather than on the subsidiaries' current profitability.



Finally, a sensitivity analysis of the debt overhang is conducted applying downside scenarios that include interest rate and GDP shocks (Figure 7). More precisely, the following scenarios were analysed: (a) the shock of interest rate increase by one percentage point annually in 2016 and 2017, (b) the shock of GDP decline by one standard deviation relative to the baseline scenario and (c) the combination of both shocks¹². The sensitivity analysis shows that the interest rate shock would increase the share of debt overhang in total debt by 4.1 percentage point, i.e. from 33.2% to 37.3%. A relatively moderate effect on debt overhang partially reflects the fact that interest rates in 2015 dropped compared to 2014 (which is the reference year for this analysis), and this drop partially neutralises the effect of the expected rise in interest rates in the subsequent years (2016-2017). In addition, one should bear in mind that around 45% of foreign debt has a fixed interest rate and the interest rate shock does not affect this portion of the debt. The negative GDP shock would have a similar effect on corporate debt sustainability. In the GDP downturn scenario, 36.8% of total corporate debt would become unsustainable by 2017 (relative to 33.2% in the baseline). Finally, if both shocks materialised, more than 40% of total corporate debt would become unsustainable, and the share of deleveraging needs in total corporate assets would increase from 10.7% to around 13%.

¹² One standard deviation of the annual rate of change in real GDP in the period 2005-2014 equals 3.9 percentage points.

4 Econometric assessment of the impact of corporate debt overhang on investment

In this chapter we test the impact of corporate indebtedness on firms' investment activity in the crisis period in Croatia. Particular attention is given to the asymmetry of this impact depending on whether a firm has unsustainable debt or not. For this purpose, we use firm-level data to estimate the basic investment equation, which includes common investment determinants such as sales growth and company size, and we further extend it by including corporate indebtedness as the explanatory variable.

The baseline dynamic model of the investment equation is:

$$INV_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta INV_{i,t-1} + \gamma \Delta S_{i,t-1} + \delta \log(A)_{i,t-1} + \sigma D_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
⁽²⁾

where the dependent variable *INV* is the investment-to-capital stock ratio, ΔS is the change in the logarithm of the sales income and illustrates the firm's growth potential (Barbosa et al., 2007), log(A) is the value of the firm's total assets and stands as a proxy for the firm's size (expressed in logarithms to reduce variations), and *D* is the firm's debt-to-assets ratio¹³. Subscripts *i* and *t* refer to firm *i* and year *t*. The first lag of the dependent variable is included in the model to account for the autocorrelation in the investment activity, as well as to incorporate possible adjustment costs of the capital stock, as stated by Barbosa et al. (2007). All regressors are included with one lag (*t*-1) as they aim to represent the conditions prevailing at the beginning of investment period *t*. Descriptive statistics of the variables are provided in Annex III.

The panel consists of annual data for 21,339 firms for the period from 2009 to 2014 (the time coverage of the sample is from 2007 to 2014, however, due to lagged variables two initial periods are lost). The panel is unbalanced since there are missing data for some enterprises in some years. Nonetheless, the number of observations exceeds 95 thousand.

The dynamic model was estimated using the GMM method in line with Arellano and Bond (1991) in order to take account of the problem of endogeneity of the lagged dependent variable. The Arellano-Bond estimator is particularly suitable for the assessment of dynamic models with fixed effects where the number of periods (*t*) is small, and the number of units (*N*) is large. The instruments that replace the endogenous explanatory variable (INV_{t-1}) are the second and the third lags of the dependent variable (INV_{t-2} and INV_{t-3}). The instruments pass the Hansen test of over-identifying restrictions, thus confirming the validity of the instrument choice. In addition, we include year dummies to control for macroeconomic conditions common to all firms.

Estimation results of the equation (2) are presented in Table 2, column 1. All estimated coefficients (except the coefficient related to the lagged dependent variable) are significant and have economically justified signs. The estimated coefficient associated with sales growth is significant and with a positive sign, supporting the assumption that the firm's investment decisions are positively affected by the demand for its products (Barbosa et al., 2007). By contrast, firm size displays a negative impact on investment, which supports the assumption that larger firms are investing less because they overinvested in their growth cycle. In other words, investment weakens with the "maturity in the life cycle", while at the same time young propulsive firms must invest more in order to grow.

Finally, the results for the effect of indebtedness on investment show a statistically significant negative effect of a firm's leverage on investment during the crisis. This finding supports the assumption that the corporate borrowing boom in Croatia prior to the crisis was indeed harmful for investment activity in the aftermath of the crisis. Furthermore, as the coefficient associated with indebtedness is significantly different from zero, we can reject the Modigliani-Miller hypothesis of the irrelevance of capital structure or corporate finance.

¹³ Investment in year *t* is calculated as the difference between the value of fixed tangible assets in year *t* and in year *t*-1 plus the amount of depreciation in year *t*.

Table 2 Results of the baseline corporate investment model Dependent variable: Investment/Capital ratio (INV)

Instruments: Lags 2 and 3 of the dependent variable Period of estimation: 2009-2014

Explanatory variables	Interpretation of the interaction terms	Linear model	Model testing for asymmetric effects of debt
		1	2
INV _{r-1}		-0.001	-0.001
S _{t-1}		0.177**	0.170**
$log(A_{t-1})$		-1.668***	-1.634***
$D_{i,t-1}$		-1.906***	
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{ D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1} \}$	Firms with debt overhang		-2.369***
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{ D_{i,t-1} \leq \tau_{i,t-1} \}$	Firms without debt overhang		-1.077***
J-statistics		16.016	17.091
Hansen test (p-value)		0.141	0.105
AR 1 (p-value)		0.074	0.075
AR 2 (p-value)		0.492	0.513
Number of firms		21,339	21,339
Number of observations		95,670	95,670

Notes: Variable τ_{ii} denotes firm-specific and time-variant debt threshold above which debt is considered unsustainable. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5, and 10 percent level. In none of the models is there evidence of second-order autocorrelation in residuals (based on Arellano-Bond test). Instruments are second and third lag of the dependent variable. All regressions pass the Hansen test of overidentifying restrictions, indicating the validity of the instrument choice. The models include fixed effects for enterprises and dummy variables for time periods (coefficients for time dummies are not presented). Source: Authors' calculation.

Finally, the magnitude of the negative debt effect on investment is much larger than in the comparable study by Rodriguez-Palenzuela et al. (2016), who estimated the effect of debt on investment at –0.49 for SMEs in selected Western European countries during the crisis.¹⁴ This again implies that the corporate debt burden in Croatia has severe macroeconomic implications, even compared to Western European countries with higher debt levels.

We further extend the model to test asymmetry in the impact of corporate debt on investment activity. This approach is motivated by the assumption that enterprises with unsustainably high debt invest less than other enterprises, in line with the trade-off and pecking order theories of financing structure. For this purpose, we introduce two interaction terms that enable differentiation of the debt effect on investment between firms with debt overhang and firms with no debt overhang. A similar approach to assessing asymmetric effects of indebtedness on investment was used in a series of empirical studies (e.g. Rodriguez-Palenzuela et al., 2016, Goretti and Souto, 2013, and Jaeger, 2003).

The baseline investment equation is extended as follows:

$$INV_{i,t} = \alpha_{i} + \beta INV_{i,t-1} + \gamma \Delta S_{i,t-1} + \delta \log(A)_{i,t-1} + \overline{\sigma} D_{i,t-1} \times 1\{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\} + \sigma D_{i,t-1} \times 1\{D_{i,t-1} \leq \tau_{i,t-1}\} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(3)

where the interaction term $1\{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\}$ represents the "debt overhang indicator" and takes the value 1 if a firm has debt overhang (e.g. if its leverage (D_{ii}) exceeds the threshold value τ_{ii}), and zero otherwise. By contrast, the second interaction term, the "no debt overhang indicator" $(1\{D_{i,t-1} \leq \tau_{i,t-1}\})$, takes the value 1 when the firm does not have debt overhang and zero otherwise. By including the two offsetting interaction terms, we divide the sample into two subgroups to estimate whether the debt effect on investment significantly differs between firms with debt overhang and firms with sustainable debt. In other words, we test whether there is a statistically significant difference between the coefficients $\overline{\sigma}$ and $\underline{\sigma}$ and whether the latter is less negative than the former.

¹⁴ Other studies covering the same topic use different indebtedness indicators (i.e. debt-to-equity instead of debt-to-assets) so their estimated coefficients are not comparable.

The key difference between our approach and the aforementioned papers is that the threshold value for identifying the overleveraged firms (τ_{ii}) is computed individually for each firm and each year. Specifically, we compute the firm-specific time-variant threshold value of the debt-to-assets ratio τ_{ii} in line with the equation (1) and the methodology described in Chapter 3.2. Other studies use either aggregate or arbitrarily chosen thresholds that are equal for all firms and constant during the whole period under consideration (alternative thresholds are assessed in detail in section 4.2.).

The results of the panel estimation of the equation (3) are presented in Table 2, column 2. The estimated coefficients suggest that the corporate investment indeed reacts asymmetrically to indebtedness, i.e. investment activity contracts more strongly when a firm has debt overhang. Specifically, the statistically significant negative coefficient associated with indebtedness is more than twice as high for firms with debt overhang as for the others: the value of the coefficient related to the debt of unsustainably indebted firms is estimated at -2.37, compared to -1.08 for firms without debt overhang. In addition, the Wald test rejects the hypothesis that the two coefficients associated with the debt variable are statistically identical (results of the Wald test are shown in Annex IV). The interpretation of these results is that for two firms with similar characteristics except for leverage, one with debt overhang and the other without, the expected adverse response of investment to a debt increase would be about twice as strong for the firm with debt overhang. In view of the high share of corporate debt overhang in Croatia (estimated to around one third of total debt), this result implies that deleveraging pressures indeed had a particularly strong adverse effect on investment activity in Croatia during the crisis.

Our findings of statistically significant asymmetric impact of debt on investment activity are in line with empirical findings for other countries. Jaeger (2003) has shown a significantly stronger negative effect of indebtedness on investment for the USA and Germany if indebtedness exceeds threshold values (the coefficients for the impact of debt on investment for the USA have been estimated at -1.9 for highly indebted firms vs -0.5 for other firms and for Germany at -0.7 vs -0.3). Rodriguez-Palenzuela et al. (2016) have also shown for the five largest euro area economies that the negative effect of debt on investment is greater if indebtedness exceeds the threshold value. In addition, a recent study of the Danish corporate sector done by Kuchler (2015) suggests that highly leveraged firms (i.e. those with leverage ratios above 80%) have reduced their investment rate by 3.9 percentage points more than the firms with low leverage. Finally, Goretti and Souto (2013) have even obtained different signs of the impact of debt on investment (e.g. positive sign for lower debt levels and negative for higher levels), thus also confirming the existence of asymmetry of the debt-to investment relation.

4.1 Breakdown by firm ownership and exports

To check whether the sensitivity of investment decisions to indebtedness depends on other firm-specific characteristics, we perform a set of robustness checks. In particular, we extend the model represented by equation (3) by including additional interaction terms with which we break down the sample to subgroups according to firms' participation in exports (e.g. exporters vs non-exporters) and type of ownership (e.g. foreign vs domestic ownership and private vs public ownership). The extended investment models are specified as follows:

$INV_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta INV_{i,t-1} + \gamma \Delta S_{i,t-1} + \delta \log(A)_{i,t-1} + \overline{\sigma_{\Psi}}$	$\overline{P}_{D_{i,t-1}} \times 1\{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\}$	$ \times \Psi_{i,t-1} + \overline{\sigma_{1-\Psi}} D_{i,t-1} \times 1 $	$\{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\} \times (4)$
$\times (1 - \Psi_{i,t-1}) + \sigma_{\Psi} D_{i,t-1} \times 1\{D_{i,t-1} \le \tau_{i,t-1}\} \times \Psi_{i,t-1} + \sigma_{\Psi} D_{i,t-1} $	$+ \sigma_{1-\Psi} D_{i,t-1} \times 1 \{ D_{i,t-1} \leq$	$\tau_{i,t-1}$ \times $(1 - \Psi_{i,t-1}) + \varepsilon_{it}$	

where the term Ψ interacts with debt variable and takes the value 1 if a firm is exporter/foreign-owned/stateowned in the three extended models, respectively. Conversely, the interaction term (1- Ψ) takes the value 1 when a firm is non-exporter/domestically-owned/privately-owned, respectively.

Overall, the main results from the baseline estimations robustly hold after accounting for selected firm characteristics (Table 3). The estimated values of the coefficients for sales income and firm size remain stable and statistically significant in all extended models. Moreover, a stronger negative effect of debt on investment (i.e. the asymmetry) is empirically found for five out of six subgroups of firms (except for foreign-owned firms).

14

Estimations of the extended models reveal additional interesting findings. First, the asymmetry in the effect of debt on investment particularly holds for exporters, domestically owned firms and privately-owned firms. Specifically, the exporters with debt overhang seem to contract investment far more strongly following a debt increase than the exporters without debt overhang: the negative estimated coefficient for overleveraged exporters is more than twice as large as for other exporters, -2.4 compared to -1.0, as shown in Table 3, column 3). Conversely, for non-exporters, having unsustainable leverage does not seem to make a difference in their investment behaviour (e.g. the coefficients for non-exporters with and without debt overhang are almost equal: -1.4 vs. -1.3). This finding is in line with the assumption that exporters are exposed to stronger competition than non-exporters, so in a situation of growing debt, exporters would not be in a position to finance their rising debt obligations through price increases, but would be forced to cut investment. This may also be one of the underlying reasons behind our finding that exporters are less burdened by debt and have lower deleveraging needs (Figure 4, panel b), as debt overhang is more likely to hurt their performance outlook than is the case for non-exporters.

Table 3 Results of the extended corporate investment models

Dependent variable: Investment/Capital ratio (INV) Instruments: Lags 2 and 3 of the dependent variable Period of estimation: 2009-2014

			Madal	Extended models accounting for firm- specific characteristics			
Explanatory variables	Interpretation of the interaction terms	Linear model	testing for asymmetric effects	Exporters vs. Non- exporters	Foreign- owned vs. Domestically -owned firms	State-owned vs. Private- owned firms	
		1	2	3	4	5	
INV _{i,t-1}		-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	
S _{i,t-1}		0.177**	0.170**	0.170**	0.169**	0.170**	
log(A _{i,t-1})		-1.668***	-1.634***	-1.635***	-1.631***	-1.634***	
$D_{i,t-1}$		-1.906***					
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\}$	Firms with debt overhang		-2.369***				
$D_{i,t-1} ^{*} 1 \left\{ D_{i,t-1} \leq \tau_{i,t-1} \right\}$	Firms without debt overhang		-1.077***				
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\} * (1-\Psi_{i,t-1})$	Non-exporters with debt overhang			-1.439***			
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\} * \Psi_{i,t-1}$	Exporters with debt overhang			-2.423***			
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{D_{i,t-1} \leq \tau_{i,t-1}\} * (1-\Psi_{i,t-1})$	Non-exporters without debt overhang			-1.293***			
$D_{i,t-1} ^{\star} 1 \left\{ D_{i,t-1} \leq \tau_{i,t-1} \right\} ^{\star} \Psi_{i,t-1}$	Exporters without debt overhang			-1.034***			
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\} * (1-\Psi_{i,t-1})$	Domestic firms with debt overhang				-2.513***		
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\} * \Psi_{i,t-1}$	Foreign firms with debt overhang				0.321		
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{D_{i,t-1} \leq \tau_{i,t-1}\} * (1-\Psi_{i,t-1})$	Domestic firms without debt overhang				-1.181***		
$D_{i,t-1} ^{*} 1 \left\{ D_{i,t-1} \leq \tau_{i,t-1} \right\} ^{*} \Psi_{i,t-1}$	Foreign firms without debt overhang				0.801		
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\} * (1-\Psi_{i,t-1})$	Private firms with debt overhang					-2.370***	
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\} * \Psi_{i,t-1}$	Public firms with debt overhang					-2.397*	
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{D_{i,t-1} \leq \tau_{i,t-1}\} * (1-\Psi_{i,t-1})$	Private firms without debt overhang					-1.072***	
$D_{i,t-1} ^{\star} 1 \left\{ D_{i,t-1} \leq \tau_{i,t-1} \right\} ^{\star} \Psi_{i,t-1}$	Public firms without debt overhang					-1.535	
J-statistics		16.016	17.091	17.131	17.086	17.080	
Hansen test (p-value)		0.141	0.105	0.104	0.105	0.106	
AR 1 (p-value)		0.074	0.075	0.075	0.075	0.075	
AR 2 (p-value)		0.492	0.513	0.514	0.514	0.513	
Number of firms		21,339	21,339	21,339	21,339	21,339	
Number of observations		95.670	95.670	95.670	95.670	95.670	

Notes: Variable τ_{it} denotes firm-specific and time-variant debt threshold above which debt is considered unsustainable. Variable Ψ_{it} takes the value 1 when firm *i* in year *t* is exporter, foreign-owned and state-owned firm in the estimations presented in columns 3, 4, and 5, respectively. ***, **, * indicate significance at 1, 5, and 10 percent level. In none of the models is there evidence of second-order autocorrelation in residuals (based on Arellano-Bond test). Instruments are second and third lag of the dependent variable. All regressions pass the Hansen test of overidentifying restrictions, indicating the validity of the instrument choice. The models include fixed effects for enterprises and dummy variables for time periods (coefficients for time dummies not presented). Source: Authors' calculation.

Turning to ownership, domestic firms' investment expectedly reacts negatively to a debt increase, especially if they have unsustainable debt. Conversely, for foreign-owned firms we do not find a statistically significant effect of debt on investment, and this holds for firms both with and without debt overhang (Table 3, column 4). This result probably reflects the fact that foreign-owned firms have access to direct financing from their parent company, and the intra-company financing does not primarily depend on the subsidiary's financial performance, but rather on general investment policies and business strategies determined by the owner. This also partly explains why foreign-owned firms accumulated larger debt overhangs than domestically owned firms (Figure 4, panel c).

Finally, for private firms we obtain a statistically significant negative impact of debt on investment, which is, as expected, much stronger for firms with debt overhang than for those without it (Table 3, column 5). However, interestingly, for public firms without debt overhang we do not find a statistically significant effect of debt on investment. This can be explained by the assumption that investment decisions in state-owned firms are not solely driven by economic criteria, but are often also subject to political objectives and cycles.

4.2 Alternative debt overhang thresholds

Finally, in order to assess whether the aggregate debt thresholds detect the over-indebted firms as well as the firm-level debt thresholds, we perform a set of alternative estimations of the investment equation in which we apply various debt thresholds commonly used in comparative literature (τ). The aim is to test whether the asymmetrically adverse impact of debt overhang on investment would also be empirically revealed if the over-indebted firms were identified using alternative approaches rather than firm-level estimation used in this paper. Thus, we re-estimate the equation (3) applying aggregate thresholds following Goretti and Suoto (2013), Jaeger (2003) and Rodriguez-Palenzuela et al. (2014), in particular the 25th percentile, the median and the mean

Table 4 Alternative thresholds for unsustainable indebtedness

Dependent variable: Investment/Capital ratio (INV) Instruments: Lags 2 and 3 of the dependent variable Period of estimation: 2009-2014

		Models testing for asymmetric effects using various thresholds $ au$							
Explanatory variables	Linear model	$ au_{i,t} = Debt$ overhang threshold	D	0	$\tau_{i,t} = \text{Debt-to-}$				
		based on NFCF for firm <i>i</i> in year <i>t</i>	au = 25th percentile	au = Median	au = Mean	firm <i>i</i> in year <i>t</i>			
	1	2	3	4	5	6			
INV _{i,t=1}	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001			
S _{<i>i</i>,<i>t</i>-1}	0.177**	0.170**	0.177**	0.177**	0.177**	0.175**			
log(A _{i,t-1})	-1.668***	-1.634***	-1.673***	-1.669***	-1.671***	-1.661***			
$D_{i,t-1}$	-1.906***								
$D_{i,t-1} * 1 \{D_{i,t-1} > \tau_{i,t-1}\}$		-2.369***	-1.829***	-1.897***	-1.916***	-2.012***			
$D_{i,t-1} ^* 1 \left\{ D_{i,t-1} \leq \tau_{i,t-1} \right\}$		-1.077***	1.146	-1.667***	-1.410***	-1.765***			
J-statistics	16.016	17.091	16.014	16.017	16.013	16.084			
Hansen test (p-value)	0.141	0.105	0.141	0.141	0.141	0.138			
AR 1 (p-value)	0.074	0.075	0.074	0.074	0.074	0.074			
AR 2 (p-value)	0.492	0.513	0.491	0.492	0.492	0.492			
Wald test C5=C6 (p-value)		0.000	0.052	0.543	0.144	0.376			
Number of firms	21,339	21,339	21,339	21,339	21,339	21,339			
Number of observations	95,670	95,670	95,670	95,670	95,670	95,670			

Notes: Variable τ denotes debt threshold above which debt is considered unsustainable. Thresholds in the model in column 2 are estimated following the methodology described in Section 3.2. ***, **, ** indicate significance at 1, 5, and 10 percent level. In none of the models is there evidence of second-order autocorrelation in residuals (based on Arellano-Bond test). Instruments are second and third lag of the dependent variable. All regressions pass the Hansen test of overidentifying restrictions, indicating the validity of the instrument choice. The models include fixed effects for enterprises and dummy variables for time periods (coefficients for time dummies not presented). The null hypothesis of the Wald test is that the two coefficients representing the impact of debt on investment for firms with and without debt overhang are equal. Source: Authors' calculation.

of the total distribution of debt-to-assets ratio of our sample in period 2009-2014 (standing at 9.2 percent, 23.0 percent and 32.9 percent, respectively). Finally, we also apply the firm-specific threshold defined as debt-to-EBITDA ratio equalling 4, following the approach by Damijan (2014). Results of the alternative estimations are presented in Table 4, columns 3 to 6, respectively.

Unlike the results based on our firm-specific thresholds (Table 4, column 2), the coefficients for the debt effect on investment in all four alternative estimations do not differ significantly between firms with debt overhang and firms without debt overhang (Table 4, columns 3 to 6). In all four alternative regressions, all but one coefficients related to the debt variable are statistically significant and expectedly negative. However, the pairs of coefficients with the debt variable for the firms with and without debt overhang do not significantly differ between themselves (as confirmed also by the Wald test). The largest difference between the coefficient is not statistically significant. Overall, the results based on alternative thresholds do not provide empirical evidence of the existence of asymmetric effects, thus supporting the appropriateness of the choice of the firm-level debt overhang indicator as a threshold in capturing the adverse impact of debt overhang on investment activity.

To sum up, the results of the econometric model based on panel data confirmed that the issue of high indebtedness of non-financial corporations in Croatia hinders investment growth, with negative effect being stronger if the enterprise has debt overhang, i.e. if the corporate debt is unsustainable. Given the above-described scale of the debt overhang problem in Croatia and the insufficient speed of corporate deleveraging in the recent years, the results indicate that this unsustainable indebtedness could have negative macroeconomic implications for the dynamics of recovery of the Croatian economy.

5 Conclusion and policy implications

Corporate sector debt in Croatia is high. We estimate that its unsustainable part ranges between 27.3% and 35.3% of the outstanding debt. In the event of combined shocks of a GDP decline and an interest rate hike, deleveraging needs may exceed 40% of the current debt. Although the debt overhang is not evenly distributed across the corporate sector, but rather concentrated in large and non-exporting enterprises, the estimated extent of over-indebtedness can nonetheless have an unfavourable impact on macroeconomic recovery. This is confirmed by the results of the estimated dynamic econometric model on firm-level panel data, where we found that high indebtedness of non-financial corporations hinders investment activity in Croatia. Moreover, the results imply that the over-indebted firms, identified by firm-level debt sustainability estimation, reduce their investment activity far more strongly than the firms without debt overhang. This asymmetrically adverse impact of debt on investment is not empirically captured when applying alternative measures for debt overhang, thus suggesting that the firm-level based methodology presented in this paper may be more appropriate in identifying the unsustainably indebted firms.

The extent of the corporate debt overhang in Croatia and its impact on investment, along with the slow progress in unwinding the overhang, underscore the need for a proactive and coordinated policy action to facilitate the deleveraging process. Accordingly, changes to the regulatory and institutional framework should go in two directions – on the one hand, to stimulate debt restructuring for firms with growth potential, including such measures as write-offs of non-performing loans, and on the other hand to simplify the liquidation process for those businesses that are unsustainable in the long run even with debt restructuring. The latter particularly refers to more efficient implementation of bankruptcy procedures, particularly having in mind that the Act on Financial Operations and Pre-Bankruptcy Settlement that came into force in 2012 did not succeed in speeding up these processes. Looking forward, desirable policy efforts require a balanced approach between achieving the greatest possible debt reduction and ensuring at the same time a fair liquidation process that would respect owners' rights and minimize moral hazard and potential fiscal costs. This also calls for more efficient

institutional support - legislative and judicial.

As for potentially viable businesses, policy efforts should be oriented towards easing and simplifying the process of writing off debt. In fact, the European Commission, in its country-specific recommendations for Croatia, also highlighted the need to facilitate the resolution of non-performing loans, in particular by improving their tax treatment. In this context, the recently introduced tax deduction for banks' income generated by non-performing debt write-offs, which will come into force during 2017, is a welcome step in this direction. Moreover, special tax treatments of debt forgiveness at the corporate level to underpin the debt restructuring process for corporates are also possible (World Bank, 2016).

In addition, the financial supervisory authorities also play a key role in encouraging banks to carry out loan restructuring. More specifically, the policy efforts to increase provisioning of bad loans incentivize banks to eliminate bad loans from their balance sheets once they become fully covered by provisions. Starting from 2013, the Croatian National Bank has required banks to raise provisions for non-performing receivables that they did not actively try to collect or for which they did not mark-to-market collateral. This led to significant improvement in the provisioning coverage and set the stage for loan sales that gained momentum in 2015 and 2016. In addition to debt write-offs, financial restructuring can also entail injections of capital, debt-to-equity swaps, restructuring of debt through reduction in interest rates, longer maturities, asset sales, or equity issues (Shin, 2017).

Whereas the ongoing efforts discussed so far predominantly focus on private sector debt, the issue of overleveraged state-owned companies requires a different approach because their debt is not considered non-performing due to state guarantees. Therefore, policy action for state-owned companies should focus on the restructuring of their debt obligations (by rescheduling debt repayments to lower future instalments or refinancing at a lower interest rate), and business models in general.

Finally, the recovery of potentially viable yet unsustainably indebted firms requires not only financial restructuring, but also operational and investment restructuring. Corporate restructuring, while sometimes challenging in the short term, has typically been associated with more rapid economic growth afterward (Shin, 2017). On the company level, this includes revision of business strategies, changes in the production structure and internal business reorganization. On the economy level more broadly, this highlights the need for removal of administrative bottlenecks and excessive regulatory burden, and providing a better investment and business climate in which enterprises could operate more easily, which might in turn improve firms' debt servicing capacity. While the recent reduction of the labour tax wedge (implemented as of the beginning of 2017) is a measure in that direction, improvement of the business climate is a more comprehensive process that requires active engagement by all policy actors in Croatia. The results obtained in this paper, implying a particularly strong adverse impact of unsustainable debt on the investment activity of Croatian firms, suggest that Croatia could achieve considerable investment and output gains from a swift and orderly resolution of the corporate debt overhang issue.

Annexes

ANNEX I Indicators of indebtedness and debt service capacity

Sample firms	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
Assets (in million HRK)	405,220	467,707	525,775	545,795	555,784	587,174	602,832	619,436	649,047
Share in total assets of the whole corporate sector (in %)	49.5	50.5	53.1	52.0	53.4	56.0	58.5	59.8	62.3
Debt (in million HRK)	106,164	129,192	154,328	164,814	175,806	191,755	193,763	199,719	209,335
Share in total debt of the whole corporate sector (in %)	41.8	41.8	51.5	49.4	51.0	53.9	55.3	56.3	59.0
Indebtedness (Debt/Assets, in %)	26.2	27.6	29.4	30.2	31.6	32.7	32.1	32.2	32.3
Profitability (EBIT/Assets, in %)	4.5	4.7	4.2	3.0	2.9	3.4	2.5	2.9	3.4
Debt burden (Interest expenses/Debt, in %)	4.4	4.8	5.0	4.8	4.8	4.8	5.3	5.0	4.7
Source: Amadeus.									
Total corporate sector	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
Indebtedness (Debt/Assets, in %)	31.0	33.3	30.3	31.8	33.1	33.9	34.0	34.2	34.0
Profitability (EBIT/Assets, in %)	2.6	2.8	2.8	1.6	1.6	2.3	1.8	1.5	2.1
Debt burden (Interest expense/Debt, in %)	-	-	4.9	4.5	4.5	4.4	4.4	4.1	3.9
Interest coverage ratio (EBITDA/Interest expenses)	-	-	4.3	3.7	3.5	4.0	3.7	4.0	4.5

Source: FINA.

ANNEX II Data description

Variable:	Description:	Source:
Operating Cash Flow before Interest	EBIT – Taxation + (Depreciation & Amortization)	Authors' calculation based on Amadeus data
Assets	Total assets	Amadeus
Debt	Loans + Long term debt	Authors' calculation based on Amadeus data
Interest expense	Interest expense	FINA
Capital expenditures	Δ (Tangible fixed assets) + (Depreciation & Amortization)	Authors' calculation based on Amadeus data
Dividends	Δ (Retained earnings) + Current earnings – Δ (Income reserves) – Δ (Revaluation reserves)	Authors' calculation based on FINA data
GDP	Annual rate of change of real gross domestic product	Bureau of Statistics
Sales	Income from sales	Amadeus
Capital	Shareholder funds	Amadeus
Investment/Capital	Capital expenditures/Shareholder funds	Authors' calculation based on Amadeus data

Year (t)	Number of firms	Imber Number firms of firms	1	「otal assets (A)		Investme (IN	nt/Capital IV)	Sales (∆lo	growth g(S))	Debt	Debt/As	sets (D)
	(i)	overhang	Sum	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	Sum	Mean	Median
			in 000 HRK	in 000 HRK	in 000 HRK	%	%			in 000 HRK	%	%
2006	20,039	2,981	405,219,908	20,217	1,466	93.5	14.3	19.5	11.1	106,164,479	23.0	14.4
2007	20,996	3,328	467,706,978	22,268	1,570	97.9	13.7	18.3	10.4	129,191,973	23.5	15.2
2008	22,667	2,765	525,774,757	23,194	1,607	113.6	16.5	15.9	9.2	154,327,714	16.5	5.2
2009	24,936	2,150	545,794,510	21,885	1,493	63.5	6.5	-7.7	-10.9	164,813,611	15.5	3.3
2010	25,884	2,406	555,783,757	21,467	1,397	171.3	6.4	0.1	-4.7	175,806,239	18.1	2.8
2011	26,659	3,019	587,173,890	22,025	1,456	116.0	8.3	12.7	4.9	191,754,711	21.7	3.0
2012	29,697	3,095	602,831,921	20,295	1,314	96.0	6.6	3.5	-0.7	193,763,058	19.3	2.3
2013	31,654	2,976	619,436,323	19,568	1,291	73.6	6.3	11.8	4.3	199,718,955	16.6	1.5
2014	31,656	2,471	649,046,813	20,503	1,360	40.7	3.6	-2.0	0.4	209,334,942	16.4	1.7

ANNEX III Summary statistics for the variables included in equations (3) and (4)

ANNEX IV Results of the Wald test for equality of coefficients in equation (3)

Equation (3): $INV_{ii} = \alpha_i + \beta INV_{ii-1} + \gamma \Delta S_{ii-1} + \delta \log(A)_{ii-1} + \overline{\sigma} D_{ii-1} \times 1\{D_{ii-1} > \tau_{ii-1}\} + \underline{\sigma} D_{ii-1} \times 1\{D_{ii-1} \leq \tau_{ii-1}\} + \varepsilon_{ii}$

Null Hypothesis: $\overline{\sigma} = \underline{\sigma}$

Test Statistic	Value	df	Probability
t-statistic	-5.109	95659	0.000
F-statistic	26.104	(1. 95659)	0.000
Chi-square	26.104	1	0.000

References

Arcand, J., E. Berkes, and U. Panizza (2012): Too much finance?, IMF Working Paper No. 12/161.

Arellano, M., and S. R. Bond (1991): Some tests of specification for panel data: Monte Carlo evidence and an application to employment equations, Review of Economic Studies 58, pp. 277-297.

Barbosa, L., A. Lacerda, and N. Ribeiro (2007): *Investment Decisions and Financial Standing of Portuguese Firms*, Banco de Portugal Economic Bulletin, Vol.13, No. 4.

Batini, N., G. Melina, and S. Villa (2015): *Interlinkages between Private and Public Debt Overhangs*, presented on the ECB conference "Debt overhang, macroeconomic adjustment and EMU economic governance: challenges ahead for the euro area" in Frankfurt am Main, November 2015, available at: https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/conferences/html/20151119_debt_overhang.en.html.

Bruggeman, A., and Ch. Van Nieuwenhuyze (2013): *Size and dynamics of debt positions in Belgium and in the euro area*, National Bank of Belgium Economic Review, June.

Buttiglione, L., P. R. Lane, L. Reichlin, and V. Reinhart (2014): *Deleveragring? What Deleveraging?*, Geneva Reports on the World Economy 16, International Center for Monetary and Banking Studies (ICMB), Geneva.

Cecchetti, S. G., M. S. Mohanty, and F. Zampolli (2011): *The real effects of debt*, BIS Working Paper No. 352, Basel.

Coricelli, F., N. Driffield, S. Pal, and I. Roland (2010): *Excess Leverage and Productivity Growth in Emerging Economies: Is There A Threshold Effect?*, IZA Discussion Papers 4834, Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA).

Croatian National Bank (2015): Bulletin, No. 220, December.

Cuerpo C., I. Drumond, J. Lendvai, P. Pontuch, and R. Raciborski (2013): *Indebtedness, deleveraging dynamics and macroeconomic adjustment*, European Commission, European Economy Economic Papers 477.

Damijan, J. P. (2014): Corporate financial soundness and its impact on firm performance: Implications for corporate debt restructuring in Slovenia, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, Working Paper No. 168.

Damijan, J. P. (2016): Corporate NPL portfolios in CESEE countries: how corporate leverage and debt spillovers affect firm performance, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, Working Paper No. 191.

Eggertsson, G. B., and P. Krugman (2012): *Debt, Deleveraging, and the Liquidity Trap: A Fisher-Minsky-Koo Approach*, The Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 127 (3), pp. 1469-1513.

European Commission (2015): *Macroeconomic Imbalances Country Report – Croatia 2015*, Occasional Paper No. 218.

European Commission (2016): Country Report Croatia 2016, Commission Staff Working Document No. 80.

European Commission (2016): Council recommendation on the 2016 national reform programme of Croatia

and delivering a Council opinion on the 2016 convergence programme of Croatia, COM(2016) 331 final.

Gapen, M. T., D. F. Gray, C. H. Lim, and Y. Xiao (2004): *The Contingent Claims Approach to Corporate Vulnerability Analysis: Estimating Default Risk and Economy-Wide Risk Transfer*, IMF Working Paper No. 04/121.

Goretti, M., and M. Souto (2013): *Macro-Financial Implications of Corporate (De)Leveraging in the Euro Area Periphery*, IMF Working Paper No. 13/154.

International Monetary Fund (2013): Global Financial Stability Report, April.

International Monetary Fund (2015): *Republic of Croatia: Staff Report for the 2015 Article IV Consultation,* Country Report No. 15/163.

Jaeger, A. (2003): Corporate Balance Sheet Restructuring and Investment in the Euro Area, IMF Working Paper No. 03/117.

Kalemli-Özcan, S., L. Laeven, and D. Moreno (2015): *Debt Overhang, Rollover Risk and Investment in Europe*, presented on the 21st Dubrovnik Conference organized by Croatian National Bank, available at: http://www.hnb.hr/dub-konf/21-konferencija/ozcan-laeven-moreno.pdf.

Kuchler, A. (2015): *Firm leverage and investment during the crisis*, Danmarks Nationalbank, Working Paper No. 96.

Lawless, M., B. O'Connell, and C. O'Toole (2014): *SME Recovery Following a Financial Crisis: Does Debt Overhang Matter?*, The Economic and Social Research Institute, Working Paper No. 491.

Lo, S., and K. Rogoff (2015): Secular stagnation, debt overhang and other rationales for sluggish growth, six years on, BIS Working Paper No. 482.

Lopez-Garcia P., F. di Mauro, and CompNet Task Force (2015): *Assessing European competitiveness: The new CompNet micro-based database*, National Bank of Belgium, Working Paper Research No. 279.

Modigliani, F., and M. H. Miller, (1958): *The cost of capital, corporation finance and the theory of investment*, American Economic Review, Vol. 48 (June), pp. 261-297.

Murray, Z., and V. K. Goyal (2005): *Trade-off and Pecking Order Theories of Debt*, Center for Corporate Governance, Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth Working Paper.

Myers, S. C. (1984): The capital structure puzzle, Journal of Finance 39, pp. 575-592.

Rodriguez-Palenzuela, D., and S. Dees (2016): Savings and Investment Behaviour in the Euro Area, ECB Occasional Paper No. 167.

Shin, J. (2017): Corporate Restructuring and Its Macro Effects, IMF Working Paper No. 17/17.

World Bank (2016): Tax Considerations for Non-performing Loan Resolution in Croatia, World Bank Group.

The following Working Papers have been published:

No.	Date	Title	Author(s)
W-1	December 1999	Croatia in the Second Stage of Transition, 1994–1999	Velimir Šonje and Boris Vujčić
W-2	January 2000	Is Unofficial Economy a Source of Corruption?	Michael Faulend and Vedran Šošić
W-3	September 2000	Measuring the Similarities of Economic Developments in Central Europe: A Correlation between the Business Cycles of Germany, Hungary, the Czech Republic and Croatia	Velimir Šonje and Igeta Vrbanc
W-4	September 2000	Exchange Rate and Output in the Aftermath of the Great Depression and During the Transition Period in Central Europe	Velimir Šonje
W-5	September 2000	The Monthly Transaction Money Demand in Croatia	Ante Babić
W-6	August 2001	General Equilibrium Analysis of Croatia's Accession to the World Trade Organization	Jasminka Šohinger, Davor Galinec and Glenn W. Harrison
W-7	February 2002	Efficiency of Banks in Croatia: A DEA Approach	Igor Jemrić and Boris Vujčić
W-8	July 2002	A Comparison of Two Econometric Models (OLS and SUR) for Forecasting Croatian Tourism Arrivals	Tihomir Stučka
W-9	November 2002	Privatization, Foreign Bank Entry and Bank Efficiency in Croatia: A Fourier- Flexible Function Stochastic Cost Frontier Analysis	Evan Kraft, Richard Hofler and James Payne
W-10	December 2002	Foreign Banks in Croatia: Another Look	Evan Kraft
W-11	October 2003	The Impact of Exchange Rate Changes on the Trade Balance in Croatia	Tihomir Stučka
W-12	August 2004	Currency Crisis: Theory and Practice with Application to Croatia	Ivo Krznar
W-13	June 2005	Price Level Convergence: Croatia, Transition Countries and the EU	Danijel Nestić
W-14	March 2006	How Competitive Is Croatia's Banking System?	Evan Kraft
W-15	November 2006	Microstructure of Foreign Exchange Market in Croatia	Tomislav Galac, Ante Burić, Ivan Huljak
W-16	December 2006	Short-Term Forecasting of Inflation in Croatia with Seasonal ARIMA Processes	Andreja Pufnik and Davor Kunovac
W-17	February 2008	Modelling of Currency outside Banks in Croatia	Maroje Lang, Davor Kunovac, Silvio Basač and Željka Štaudinger
W-18	June 2008	International Business Cycles with Frictions in Goods and Factors Markets	Ivo Krznar
W-19	December 2008	Use of the Hedonic Method to Calculate an Index of Real Estate Prices in Croatia	Davor Kunovac, Enes Đozović, Gorana Lukinić, Andreja Pufnik
W-20	May 2009	Contagion Risk in the Croatian Banking System	Marko Krznar
W-21	October 2009	Optimal International Reserves of the CNB with Endogenous Probability of Crisis	Ana Maria Čeh and Ivo Krznar
W-22	December 2009	The Impact of the Financial Crisis and Policy Responses in Croatia	Nikola Bokan, Lovorka Grgurić, Ivo Krznar, Maroje Lang
W-23	April 2010	Habit Persistence and International Comovements	Alexandre Dmitriev and Ivo Krznar
W-24	April 2010	Capital Inflows and Efficiency of Sterilisation – Estimation of Sterilisation and Offset Coefficients	Igor Ljubaj, Ana Martinis and Marko Mrkalj
W-25	April 2010	Income and Price Elasticities of Croatian Trade – A Panel Data Approach	Vida Bobić
W-26	December 2010	Impact of External Shocks on Domestic Inflation and GDP	Ivo Krznar and Davor Kunovac
W-27	December 2010	The Central Bank as Crisis-Manager in Croatia – A Counterfactual Analysis	Tomislav Galac
W-28	January 2011	A Credit Market Disequilibrium Model And Periods of Credit Crunch	Ana Maria Čeh, Mirna Dumičić and Ivo Krznar
W-29	November 2011	Identifying Recession and Expansion Periods in Croatia	Ivo Krznar
W-30	November 2011	Estimating Credit Migration Matrices with Aggregate Data – Bayesian Approach	Davor Kunovac
W-31	November 2011	An Analysis of the Domestic Inflation Rate Dynamics and the Phillips Curve	Ivo Krznar
W-32	January 2012	Are Some Banks More Lenient in the Implementation of Placement Classification Rules?	Tomislav Ridzak
W-33	January 2012	Global Crisis and Credit Euroisation in Croatia	Tomislav Galac
W-34	April 2012	Estimating the Impact of Monetary Policy on Household and Corporate Loans: a FAVEC Approach	lgor Ljubaj

No.	Date	Title	Author(s)
W-35	November 2012	Estimating Potential Output in the Republic of Croatia Using a Multivariate Filter	Nikola Bokan and Rafael Ravnik
W-36	March 2013	Pricing behaviour of Croatian Companies: results of a Firm survey and a Comparison with the eurozone	Andreja Pufnik and Davor Kunovac
W-37	April 2013	Financial Conditions and Economic Activity	Mirna Dumičić and Ivo Krznar
W-38	August 2013	The borrowing costs of selected countries of the European Union – the role of the spillover of external shocks	Davor Kunovac
W-39	September 2014	Nowcasting GDP Using Available Monthly Indicators	Davor Kunovac and Borna Špalat
W-40	June 2014	Short-term Forecasting of GDP under Structural Changes	Rafael Ravnik
W-41	December 2014	Financial Stress Indicators for Small, Open, Highly Euroised Countries – the Case of Croatia	Mirna Dumičić
W-42	September 2015	Determinants of Labour Cost Adjustment Strategies during the Crisis – Survey Evidence from Croatia	Marina Kunovac
W-43	September 2015	Financial Stability Indicators – the Case of Croatia	Mirna Dumičić
W-44	July 2015	Microeconomic Aspects of the Impact of the Global Crisis on the Growth of Non-financial Corporations in the Republic of Croatia	Tomislav Galac
W-45	January 2017	Delayed Credit Recovery in Croatia: Supply or Demand Driven?	Mirna Dumičić and Igor Ljubaj
W-46	January 2017	Exchange Rate Pass-Through in the Euro Area	Mariarosaria Comunale and Davor Kunovac
W-47	Febuary 2017	Are Sovereign Credit Ratings Overrated?	Davor Kunovac and Rafael Ravnik
W-48	March 2017	Effectiveness of Macroprudential Policies in Central and Eastern European Countries	Mirna Dumičić
W-49	April 2017	What is Driving Inflation and GDP in a Small European Economy: The Case of Croatia	Goran Jovičić and Davor Kunovac
W-50	June 2017	The Effects of Economic Integration on Croatian Merchandise Trade: A Gravity Model Study	Nina Ranilović

Guidelines to authors

In its periodical publications *Working Papers, Surveys* and *Technical Papers*, the Croatian National Bank publishes scientific and scholarly papers of the Bank's employees and other associate contributors.

After the submission, the manuscripts shall be subject to peer review and classification by the Manuscript Review and Classification Committee. The authors shall be informed of the acceptance or rejection of their manuscript for publication within two months following the manuscript submission.

Manuscripts are submitted and published in Croatian and/ or English language.

Manuscripts submitted for publication should meet the following requirements:

Manuscripts should be submitted via e-mail or optical storage media (CD, DVD), accompanied by one printed paper copy. The acceptable text format is Word.

The first page of the manuscript should contain the article title, first and last name of the author and his/her academic degree, name of the institution with which the author is associated, author's co-workers, and the complete mailing address of the corresponding author to whom a copy of the manuscript with requests for corrections shall be sent.

Additional information, such as acknowledgments, should be incorporate in the text at the end of the introductory section.

The second page should contain the abstract and the key words. The abstract is required to be explicit, descriptive, written in third person, consisting of not more than 250 words (maximum 1500 characters). The abstract should be followed by maximum 5 key words.

A single line spacing and A4 paper size should be used. The text must not be formatted, apart from applying bold and italic script to certain parts of the text. Titles must be numerated and separated from the text by double-line spacing, without formatting.

Tables, figures and charts that are a constituent part of the

paper must be well laid out, containing: number, title, units of measurement, legend, data source, and footnotes. The footnotes referring to tables, figures and charts should be indicated by lower-case letters (a,b,c...) placed right below. When the tables, figures and charts are subsequently submitted, it is necessary to mark the places in the text where they should be inserted. They should be numbered in the same sequence as in the text and should be referred to in accordance with that numeration. If the tables and charts were previously inserted in the text from other programs, these databases in the Excel format should also be submitted (charts must contain the corresponding data series).

The preferred formats for illustrations are EPS or TIFF with explanations in 8 point Helvetica (Ariel, Swiss). The scanned illustration must have 300 dpi resolution for grey scale and full colour illustration, and 600 dpi for lineart (line drawings, diagrams, charts).

Formulae must be legible. Indices and superscript must be explicable. The symbols' meaning must be given following the equation where they are used for the first time. The equations in the text referred to by the author should be marked by a serial number in brackets closer to the right margin.

Notes at the foot of the page (footnotes) should by indicated by Arabic numerals in superscript. They should be brief and written in a smaller font than the rest of the text.

References cited in the text are listed at the last page of the manuscript in the alphabetical order, according to the authors' last names. References should also include data on the publisher, city and year of publishing.

Publishing Department maintains the right to send back for the author's revision the accepted manuscript and illustrations that do not meet the above stated requirements.

All contributors who wish to publish their papers are welcomed to do so by addressing them to the Publishing Department, following the above stated guidelines.

The Croatian National Bank publications

Croatian National Bank - Annual Report

Regular annual publication surveying annual monetary and general economic developments as well as statistical data.

Croatian National Bank - Semi-annual Report

Regular semi-annual publication surveying semi-annual monetary and general economic developments and statistical data.

Banks Bulletin

Publication providing survey of data on banks.

Croatian National Bank - Bulletin

Regular monthly publication surveying monthly monetary and general economic developments and monetary statistics.

Croatian National Bank - Working Papers

Occasional publication containing shorter scientific papers written by the CNB employees and associate contributors.

Croatian National Bank - Surveys

Occasional publication containing scholarly papers written by the CNB employees and associate contributors.

Croatian National Bank - Technical Papers

Occasional publication containing papers of informative character written by CNB employees and associate contributors.

The Croatian National Bank also issues other publications such as, for example, numismatic issues, brochures, publications in other media (CD-ROM, DVD), books, monographs and papers of special interest to the CNB as well as proceedings of conferences organised or co-organised by the CNB, educational materials and other similar publications.

ISSN 1334-0131 (online)